ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

DEC 31 2013

Certiorari to Richland County
L. Casey Manning, Circuit Court Judge

S.C. Supreme Court

BRANDON JONES,

PETITIONER,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2013-000605

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

BENJAMIN JOHN TRIPP
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

QUESTION PRESENTED

Whether Petitioner's plea counsel was ineffective for bargaining with the State that certain uninvestigated, prejudicial statements by Petitioner's former cellmate would not be submitted to the court for consideration at sentencing; where the statements were subsequently included in a presentence investigation report and presented to the court; and where plea counsel failed to object to the report or to withdraw Petitioner's plea.

STATEMENT

On December 15, 2004, a Richland County grand jury indicted Petitioner on three counts of first degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor. App. 121-130. On June 27th, 2005, Petitioner appeared at a plea hearing before the Honorable John L. Breeden. App. 1; App. 274, l. 17 – App. 275, l. 3. Deborah Ahrens represented Petitioner and Erin Gaddy represented the State. App. 1. The State alleged that from September through December of 2003, Petitioner engaged in repeated incidents of fondling, oral sex, and masturbation with three minor children. App. 8, ln. 16—App. 9, ln. 3. The plea court found Petitioner’s plea was knowing and voluntary. App. 8, ll. 5-11. Petitioner requested a presentence investigation and report. App. 3, ll. 15-19; App. 20, ll. 18-24. The court delayed sentencing pending a pre-sentencing investigation. App. 20, ll. 22-24.

The pre-sentencing investigation and report were completed by July 25, 2005, but Petitioner had not seen the report when he entered the courtroom for his sentencing hearing on September 15, 2005 before Judge Breeden. App. 54, ll. 10-13; App. 60, ll. 10-19; App. 133. At the hearing, Lauren Mobley represented Petitioner, and Vincent D. Smith represented the State. App. 50, ll. 6-18; App. 133. Counsel objected to the court’s use of the report solely on grounds that it did not include input from Petitioner’s family. App. 56, ll. 11-13; App. 136, l. 18 – App. 137, l. 24. The court overruled the objection, saying that it did not “have to ask for a pre-sentence investigation at all to begin with.” App. 57, ll. 2-13; App. 137, l. 25 – App. 138, l. 10. The court sentenced Petitioner to thirty years concurrent for each charge. App. 152, ll. 22-25.

Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief on August 31, 2019, claiming ineffective assistance of counsel. App. 23-28. The State filed a return on April 1, 2010. App. 29-32; App. 100. On February 28, 2011, Petitioner proceeded to a hearing before the Honorable L.

Casey Manning. App. 34. Brian T. Petrano represented the State, and Tommy A. Thomas represented Petitioner. App. 267.

At the PCR hearing, Petitioner testified that during the prosecution of his case, his former cellmate, Elijah Hunter, gave a written statement to the Richland County Sheriff's Office that Petitioner had confessed to sexual misconduct with as many as twenty other victims. App. 45, ln. 3—App. 47, ln. 8. Petitioner adamantly denied the allegation all along, and he testified that he agreed with the State only to plead guilty to the three offenses he was facing in exchange for the State's promise not to submit Hunter's statement to the plea court for consideration at sentencing. App. 48, ln. 8—App. 49, ln. 5; App. 63, ll. 1-25. However, even though counsel knew the terms of the plea bargain and knew that the presentence investigation report featured Hunter's statement, she allowed it to be presented to the sentencing court without objection. App. 63, ll. 1-25.

Petitioner also testified that he had strong convictions about pursuing trial to set his record straight. "This case had a lot of sensationalism. . . . The media had played it up that I had committed several crimes, made a lot of threats and then fled the country." App. 43, ll. 19-25. "I may have done something but all that they're saying I did and all that this guy is saying is going on, the truth has got to come out at trial." App. 46, ll. 6-9. Accordingly, Petitioner sought the presentence investigation specifically for the purpose of setting a record for the plea and sentencing. App. 43, ll. 7-15; App. 44, ll. 12-19. He explained how important seeing the presentence investigation report prior to the plea was: "[B]ecause of all the sensationalism, because of all of the . . . false accusations that wanted to set apart from the truth, I wanted to get a hold of the presentence investigation so that I could separate the chaff from the wheat." App. 51, ll. 12-17; App. 54, ll. 1-8. Petitioner the restated that the omission of Hunter's statements from the report was a necessary condition to his plea:

[I]f I had the chance, I would have certainly objected to it. . . . [O]nce I saw Elijah's statement in there, I said . . . they've broken a plea deal. I told [counsel], that by my understanding that gave me the right to withdraw the plea. And she said, no – she said, it's too late to withdraw the plea. . . . I said, I want to withdraw. I said, we have to go to trial because at least then I'll be sentenced for something that I did rather than something that some people made up.

App. 71, ll. 6-25.

The State called Petitioner's sentencing counsel to testify. She confirmed Petitioner's testimony:

Q: Ma'am, have you been present here throughout the testimony today?

A: Yes, I have.

Q: Can you tell us for the most part, do you just agree with what he said as far as your involvement?

A: I do. I mean, I had very limited involvement with the case but when I was reviewing my file, I did see a note from Ms. Ahrens recounting a discussion between her and the Solicitor Erin Gaddy noting that there would be a serious problem *and the plea wouldn't go through if Elijah Hunter's testimony was allowed during the plea proceedings.*

App. 80, ll. 11-22 (emphasis added).

On February 14, 2012, the PCR court issued its order dismissing Petitioner's claims. App. 100-110. The court found sentencing counsel was not ineffective because the sentencing court based the harsh sentence on Petitioner's "attempt to flee to Ecuador." Further, counsel was not deficient because she objected to the report during sentencing. Additionally, the PCR court found "no credible evidence to support the notion that the 'deal' was to hide something from the plea court. Such a 'deal' is not conducive to the nature of a guilty plea proceeding." App. 107.

By notice dated March 9, 2012, PCR counsel moved the PCR court to reconsider. App. 111-112. The State filed a return on January 24, 2009. App. 113-114. Petitioner filed a supplement to the motion to reconsider dated January 22, 2013, arguing that the court's ruling was contrary to the evidence of sentencing counsel's testimony affirming the agreement. App. 116-117. On March 11, 2013, the PCR issued its order denying the motion to reconsider. 119-120

ARGUMENT

Counsel was ineffective because she plea-bargained for terms the Petitioner was not entitled to secure and because she failed to object to the contents of the presentence investigation report or to withdraw Petitioner's guilty plea after the court received the report.

Counsel was ineffective because she plea-bargained for terms the Petitioner was not entitled to secure and because she failed to object to the contents of the presentence investigation report or to withdraw Petitioner's guilty plea after the court received the report. The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution guarantees a defendant the right to effective assistance of counsel. U.S. Const. amend. VI; *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). The United States Supreme Court has created a two-pronged test to establish ineffective assistance of counsel by which a PCR applicant must show: (1) counsel's performance was deficient; and (2) the deficient performance prejudiced the defendant. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 687.

In the context of a guilty plea, by showing that "counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness and that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, the defendant would not have pled guilty," a defendant sufficiently undermines the required voluntary and intelligent character of a plea. *Rolen v. State*, 384 S.C. 409, 413, 683 S.E.2d 471, 474 (2009); accord *State v. Hazel*, 275 S.C. 392, 271 S.E.2d 602 (1980) (holding record must reflect that defendant freely and intelligently waived constitutional trial rights and had full understanding of the consequences of the plea); *Berry v. State*, 381 S.C. 630, 635, 675 S.E.2d

425, 427 (2009) (holding the difference “between a valid guilty plea and an invalid guilty plea lies in the knowing and voluntary nature of the plea”).

In *Jordan v. State*, 297 S.C. 52, 374 S.E.2d 683 (1988), this Court held that a defendant’s counsel was ineffective for failing to object or withdraw his guilty plea once the solicitor reneged on a deal not to oppose probation. *Id.* at 54-55, 374 S.E.2d at 685. The plea counsel negotiated with an assistant solicitor on the day of the plea for the State to neither recommend nor oppose probation. *Id.* at 53, 374 S.E.2d at 684. At the hearing, a different assistant solicitor represented the State and vigorously opposed probation on the grounds that the defendant was too old. *Id.* Counsel never requested to withdraw the plea or inform the judge that the State changed its position. *Id.* This Court stated that the defendant had originally insisted with vehemence on pursuing a jury trial, and he only agreed to plea when he believed the State would neither oppose nor recommend probation. *Id.* at 54-55, 374 S.E. 2d at 684-85.

In this case, both Petitioner and counsel testified at the PCR hearing that counsel bargained with the State for Hunter’s statements not to be submitted to the court for consideration at sentencing. However, the statements were subsequently included in the presentencing report, which was presented to the court. If the court was always entitled to be made aware of Hunter’s statements, counsel unreasonably bargained to prevent the court from seeing them. Alternatively, if Hunter’s statements were so unreliable or speculative that the parties could have properly agreed to disregard them, then like in *Jordan v. State*, counsel acted unreasonably in failing to object to the report, qualify its contents to the court, or withdraw Petitioner’s plea.

Also like in *Jordan v. State*, the record shows that Petitioner’s original convictions in setting his record straight at trial and his agreement to a plea based on the condition that Hunter’s statements not be presented to the sentencing court signified a reasonable probability that absent

counsel's deficiency, he would have insisted on going to trial. Petitioner testified that media reports distorted his actions, and he sought a prehearing investigation specifically purpose of setting an accurate record for the plea and sentencing. Petitioner always denied the uninvestigated allegations of Hunter's statements, and sometime later, he only agreed to plea based on the allegations underlying the three charges against him and a promise that Hunter's statements would not be published. Counsel then testified and confirmed that Petitioner told his previous attorney that he would not plead if Hunter's statements were presented during the proceedings. Therefore, had counsel raised and addressed the issue with the sentencing judge, a reasonable probability existed that Petitioner would have withdrawn the plea and sought trial.

The PCR court's order concluded counsel was not ineffective for three reasons. First, it found the sentencing court based the harsh sentence on Petitioner's "attempt to flee to Ecuador." This analysis was erroneous because effectiveness in this case turns on whether counsel was unreasonable in failing to object or withdraw the guilty plea and whether Petitioner therefore suffered prejudice by being denied his right to seek trial. Whether Petitioner would have received a lighter sentence is not a part of the legal test for effectiveness in a plea case such as this one.

Second, the order concluded counsel was not ineffective because she did in fact object to the report at the sentencing hearing. However, counsel objected on grounds that the presentence report was incomplete and did not include the input from Petitioner's family. Thus, counsel did not object that the report contained information that the State promised to be excluded, which was unreasonable and below the necessary standard.