STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Richland County
Court of Common Pleas
L. Casey Manning, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2013-000605

RECEIVED

APR 17 2014

S.C. Supreme Court

BRANDON JONES,

Petitioner,

vs.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MEGAN E. HARRIGAN
SC Bar No. 100108
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

ISSUE PRESENTED

Is there evidence of probative value in the record to support the post-conviction relief court's finding that Counsel was not ineffective regarding the presentence report, where there is no credible evidence that there was a plea agreement to conceal relevant information from the plea court, the State did not present any information from Hunter, Petitioner acknowledged multiple times at both his plea and sentencing proceedings that he was guilty and wanted to plead guilty, and the plea court stated on the record its rationale for the particular sentence that was wholly unrelated to the information Petitioner asserts was improperly included in the presentence investigation report?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner was indicted during the December 2004 term of the Richland County Grand Jury for three counts of Criminal Sexual Conduct with a Minor in the First Degree (2004-GS-40-08462 through -0864). The indictments arose from allegations during September to December 2003, Petitioner repeatedly engaged in sex acts with three minor male children, all age ten, whom Petitioner had befriended. On June 27, 2005, Petitioner appeared before the Honorable John L. Breeden, and pled guilty as indicted to all three offenses without any negotiations or recommendations from the State. Petitioner was represented by Assistant Public Defender Deborah Ahrens and the State was represented by Assistant Solicitor Erin Gaddy. Following its colloquy with Petitioner, the plea court found Petitioner's pleas to be free and voluntary. The court heard from Petitioner, family members of the victims, and reviewed letters from Petitioner's family and friends. At Petitioner's request, the plea court deferred sentencing and ordered the Department of Probation, Parole, and Pardon Services to conduct a presentence investigation.

On September 15, 2005, Petitioner again appeared before Judge Breeden for sentencing. He was represented by Assistant Public Defender Lauren Mobley and the State was represented by Assistant Solicitor Vincent Smith. The court heard again from Petitioner and family members of the victims, as well as Petitioner's parents. A report of the presentence investigation was also provided to the court. After reviewing all information provided, Judge Breeden sentenced Petitioner to thirty years imprisonment for each charge, with all three sentences to be served concurrently.

A notice of appeal was filed and an appeal was perfected on Petitioner's behalf.

Following the submission of an Anders¹ brief by Chief Appellate Defender Robert M. Dudek and Petitioner's *pro se* brief, the South Carolina Court of Appeals dismissed the appeal. State v. Brandon Eugene Jones, 2008-UP-175 (Ct. App. filed March 13, 2008). The Remittitur was sent September 9, 2008.

Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief on August 31, 2009, alleging that he was being held in custody unlawfully based on the allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel and involuntary guilty plea. Respondent made its Return on March 19, 2010, requesting an evidentiary hearing be held. An evidentiary hearing was convened on February 28, 2011, at the Richland County Courthouse before the Honorable L. Casey Manning. Petitioner was present and represented by Tommy A. Thomas, Esquire. Respondent was represented by Assistant Attorney General Brian T. Petrano of the South Carolina Attorney General's Office. Petitioner testified on his own behalf and presented testimony from his father, Randall Jones. Sentencing counsel Lauren Mobley was also present and testified at the hearing. By Order filed February 24, 2012, Judge Manning denied and dismissed Petitioner's application for post-conviction relief. Petitioner filed a motion to alter or amend the judgment, to which Respondent replied on January 23, 2013. By written Order dated March 7, 2013, Judge Manning denied Petitioner's motion to alter or amend.

Petitioner filed a Petition for Writ of Certiorari on December 31, 2013. This Return follows.

¹ Anders v. California, 386 U.S. 738 (1967).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The proper standard of review of a post-conviction relief evidentiary hearing is whether “‘*any evidence*’ of probative value” exists to sustain the post-conviction relief court’s findings. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 119, 386 S.E.2d 624, 626 (1989) (emphasis added). This Court will affirm if there is any evidence to support the post-conviction relief court’s ruling. Moore v. State, 399 S.C. 641, 646, 732 S.E.2d 871, 873 (2012).

In a post-conviction relief action, an applicant bears the burden of proving the allegations in his application. Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985). Where the application alleges ineffective assistance of counsel as a ground for relief, the applicant must prove that “counsel’s conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result.” Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984); Butler, Id.

The proper measure of performance is whether an attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. Courts presume that counsel rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment. Strickland, supra. An applicant must overcome this presumption in order to receive relief. Cherry, supra.

The reviewing court applies a two-pronged test in evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. First, the applicant must prove that counsel’s performance was deficient. Under this prong, the court measures an attorney’s performance by its “reasonableness under professional norms.” Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117, 386 S.E.2d at 625, citing Strickland, supra. Second, counsel’s deficient performance must have prejudiced the applicant such that “there is a

reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625. Where there has been a guilty plea, the applicant must prove prejudice by showing that, but for counsel's errors, there is a reasonable probability he would not have pled guilty and instead would have insisted on going to trial. Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52, 59 (1985); Hyman v. State, 397 S.C. 35, 49, 723 S.E.2d 375, 382 (2012).

"In determining guilty plea issues, it is proper to consider the guilty plea transcript as well as evidence at the PCR hearing. Specifically, the voluntariness of a guilty plea is not determined by an examination of a specific inquiry made by the sentencing judge alone, but is determined from both the record made at the time of the entry of the guilty plea, and also from the record of the PCR hearing." Holden v. State, 393 S.C. 565, 573, 713 S.E.2d 611, 615 (2011) (internal citations omitted).

ARGUMENT

There is evidence of probative value in the record to support the post-conviction relief court's finding that Counsel was not ineffective regarding the presentence report, where there is no credible evidence that there was a plea agreement to conceal relevant information from the plea court, the State did not present any information from Hunter, Petitioner acknowledged multiple times at both his plea and sentencing proceedings that he was guilty and wanted to plead guilty, and the plea court stated on the record its rationale for the particular sentence that was wholly unrelated to the information Petitioner asserts was improperly included in the presentence investigation report.

Petitioner asserts that "counsel was deficient in assisting Petitioner in knowingly and voluntarily waiving his right to trial², and the conclusion to the contrary in the [post-conviction relief court]'s order was erroneous." PWC p. 9. Specifically, Petitioner contends that "counsel was ineffective because she plea-bargained for terms the Petitioner was not entitled to secure and because she failed to object to the contents of the presentence investigation report or to withdraw Petitioner's guilty plea after the court received the report." PWC p. 6. The portion of the presentencing investigation report that Petitioner takes issue with is:

"According to Elijah Hunter, Jones' cellmate at the Alvin S. Glenn Detention Center, Jones' showed no dealings of guilt, expressed no desire to change his behavior and wants nothing more than to flee the country again to be with another young boy in Ecuador who goes by the name of "Junior." Jones admitted to Hunter that he has molested upwards of 20 kids in the Charlotte-Mecklenburg area and that he has found nothing wrong with his actions by claiming he is guilty of nothing but, 'love in the first degree.'"

Second Supp. App. p. 74. In support of his allegation, Petitioner relies on his testimony that he would not have pled guilty but rather insisted on going to trial if he was aware that any information from Hunter would be conveyed to the plea court. He elaborated that his first attorney, Deborah Ahrens, told him that she had entered into an agreement with the prosecuting

² While Petitioner argued during his evidentiary hearing that his guilty plea was involuntarily, he appears to have either abandoned this issue on appeal or has conceded that his guilty plea was "knowingly and voluntarily" entered. PWC p. 9.

Assistant Solicitor Erin Gaddy that Hunter's statement would not be presented to the plea court. However, the post-conviction relief properly denied Petitioner's allegations, as there is no credible evidence that there was a plea agreement between Petitioner and the State to conceal relevant information from the plea court, the State presented no information from Hunter during Petitioner's guilty plea or sentencing hearing, Petitioner acknowledged multiple times that he was guilty and wanted to plead guilty, and the court's rationale for its particular sentence was wholly unrelated to the information which Petitioner complains was improperly included in his presentencing investigation report.

In its Order of Dismissal, the post-conviction relief court made the specific finding that Petitioner's testimony was not credible after observing him throughout the evidentiary hearing. App. p. 107. Therefore, the only credible evidence or testimony related to this alleged agreement comes from sentencing counsel Lauren Mobley, who testified that she saw a note in her file from former counsel Ahrens "recounting a discussion between her and the Solicitor Erin Gaddy noting that there would be a serious problem and the plea wouldn't go through if Elijah Hunter's testimony was allowed during the plea agreement." App. p. 80 lns. 16-20. However, this testimony only references an agreement that the State would not present *testimony* from Hunter. There is no evidence that the State entered into an agreement to conceal any information from Hunter from the plea court, merely that it would not present Hunter as a witness or offer his statements to the plea court. Additionally, the State did not offer any testimony from Hunter during Petitioner's guilty plea or sentencing proceedings. The record is completely devoid of any utterance of Hunter's name or information he provided by the State. See App. p. 1-22; Supp. App. p. 1-21. The only reference to Hunter or any information he provided is contained in the

presentence investigation report by way of a brief comment made by Chief Brian Buck of the Irmo Police Department. Second Supp. App. p. 74. This presentence investigation report was prepared at Petitioner's request by the Department of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services – a separate entity than the Fifth Circuit Solicitor's office. Therefore, even if the State had entered into an agreement not to present testimony from Hunter, this agreement was not breached, as the State did not present any testimony or statements from Hunter and the only brief information provided was from a report prepared by a separate entity. As there was no breach, counsel cannot be deficient for failing to object or in the alternative, withdraw Petitioner's guilty plea. The post-conviction relief court's ruling should be affirmed as there is no evidence of any deficiency of counsel.

Furthermore, Petitioner cannot establish any resulting prejudice from counsel's alleged deficiency. First, Petitioner's own statements during his plea and sentencing strongly refute his claims³ that he wanted to proceed to trial rather than enter a guilty plea. Petitioner spoke at great length during both his guilty plea and sentencing proceedings regarding his known pedophilia and his inability to control his sexual urges towards young boys. App. p. 17-20; Supp. App. 10-14. He also freely admitted that he had committed these crimes and apologized profusely to the victims and their families. App. p. 17-20; Supp. App. 10-14. Additionally, during his guilty plea proceeding, counsel Ahrens told the court that Petitioner "basically would never entertain the notion of taking this case to trial . . . he has always taken responsibility for what he did[,] he has always acknowledged the wrongfulness of his actions." App. p. 14 ln. 24- p. 15 ln. 3. Petitioner has failed to establish that he would have insisted on proceeding to trial but for counsel's alleged deficiency – which occurred *after* he tender his guilty plea.

³ As discussed supra, the post-conviction relief court found Petitioner's testimony was "not credible." App. p. 107.

Second, Petitioner is unable to show that the outcome would have been different but for the allegedly improper information from Hunter in the presentencing investigation report. The plea court gave its rationale for its sentence, stating:

“Let me tell you one of the things that concerns me most about this other than the obvious. Is leaving and going to Ecuador at a crucial moment. His explanation was that I was going there to seek Depo-Provera and I was going to come back when I got it. But while there, his visa expired, there was no money to buy a ticket to return home. That was his explanation. The concern that the parents have and the concern that the Court has that he had no intention to come back to this country. He recognized that – and what he said he told the young boy that if they told, that he would be in deep trouble. And he recognize[d] that fact. He knew that fact.”

Supp. App. p. 19 ln. 17 – p. 18 ln. 5. Again, Petitioner cannot establish that the result of his proceeding would have been different absent the information from Hunter in the presentence report where the plea court lays out its reasoning for its particular sentence, that is wholly unrelated to any information provided by Hunter. Furthermore, Petitioner himself confirmed the plea court’s rationale, freely admitting during the evidentiary hearing that evaded justice for a period of time. App. p. 70 ln. 24 – p. 71 ln. 3. Petitioner failed to establish any prejudice from the alleged deficiency and the post-conviction relief court’s ruling should be affirmed.

The record contains evidence of probative value to support the post-conviction relief court’s findings that Counsel was not ineffective in regards to this allegation. This Petition should be denied.